In the Supreme Court of the State of Calmeria

198655

On Habeas Corpus.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D056825

OPENING BRIEF

KAMALA D. HARRIS Attorney General of California MANUEL M. MEDEIROS State Solicitor General JULIE L. GARLAND Senior Assistant Attorney General DANE R. GILLETTE Chief Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 65925 455 Golden Gate Avenue, Suite 11000 San Francisco, CA 94102-7004 Telephone: (415) 703-5500 Fax: (415) 703-5480

Email: Dane.Gillette@doj.ca.gov

Attorneys for Respondents

SUPREME COURT FILED APR 19 2011 Frederick K. Ohlrich Clar

ISSUE PRESENTED

Where the Board identifies the nexus between an inmate's past violent conduct and his current risk to public safety as a lack of insight into the causes of, and failure to take responsibility for, his past violent behavior, must a court defer to the Board's weighing of the conflicting evidence regarding the inmate's insight?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Richard Shaputis was convicted in 1987 for murdering his wife, Erma, with a close-range gunshot to her neck. (*In re Shaputis* (Nov. 17, 2010, D056825) [nonpub. opn.]; Slip opn. at pp. 1, 4-5.) He was sentenced to fifteen years to life in prison with an additional two-year sentence for the use of a firearm. (*Id.* at pp. 1, 4.)

The murder was Shaputis's first felony conviction, but he had a long history of domestic violence. (Slip opn. at pp. 4-5.) Over twenty-three years of marriage, Shaputis repeatedly beat Erma, cracked her ribs, threatened her life, and fired a gun at her during a drunken argument. (*Id.* at p. 4.) Shaputis was also abusive to his previous wife and his children from both marriages. (*Ibid.*) He pled no contest to misdemeanor soliciting or engaging in a lewd act after he was charged with twice raping his daughter. (*Id.* at pp. 5-6.)

In 2004, the Board of Parole Hearings found Shaputis unsuitable for parole given the gravity of the offense and his history of domestic violence. (Slip opn. at p. 8.) He challenged the Board's decision by filing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the San Diego County Superior Court. (*Ibid.*) When this superior court petition was denied, he filed another one in the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, which was granted in a split decision. (*Id.* at pp. 8-9.) The appellate court found that the Board's decision "was contrary to the only reliable evidence of his current

dangerousness and relied on findings unsupported by any evidence," and it ordered the Board to reconsider Shaputis's suitability for parole. (*Ibid.*) In doing so, however, the appellate court ruled the Board could only consider evidence that was new or different than what was presented at the 2004 hearing. (*Ibid.*)

The Board held the court-ordered hearing in 2006 and found that Shaputis continued to demonstrate a lack of understanding as to why had he murdered his wife and was abusive. (Slip opn. at pp. 9-10.) In making this finding, the Board considered a 2005 psychological evaluation, which noted that Shaputis could have schizoid tendencies because he continued to insist that his daughter's allegations of molestation and abuse were "inexplicable" and had a flat affect when discussing the allegations. (*In re Shaputis* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1241, 1252.) Nevertheless, the Board reluctantly granted Shaputis parole because it believed it was compelled to do so by the appellate court's directive. (Slip opn. at pp. 10-11.)

Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger reversed the Board's decision based on his conclusion that parole was improper given the circumstances of the crime and because Shaputis failed to accept responsibility for his violent behavior. (*Id.* at p. 11.) For the second time, Shaputis petitioned for a writ of habeas corpus in the court of appeal, and in another split decision, the court of appeal agreed with him. It concluded that the evidence was insufficient to support the Governor's decision. (Slip opn. at pp. 11-12.) This Court granted review and reversed. (*In re Shaputis, supra,* 44 Cal.4th at pp. 1260-1261.) Disagreeing with the appellate court, this Court found that the evidence was sufficient to support Shaputis's parole denial. (*Id.* at p. 1241.)

Since this Court's 2008 decision, the evidence has changed very little. In April 2009, Shaputis was scheduled to be evaluated by a Board psychologist, Dr. Nameeta Sahni, but Shaputis refused to participate. (Slip

opn. at p. 14, n.12.) Dr. Sahni assigned Shaputis a low risk for recidivism, but her assessment was necessarily restricted to a review of the written record only. Because Shaputis had refused to be interviewed, Dr. Sahni was unable to assess his insight or remorse, and was unable to apply any formalized risk assessment measures. (Ex. 4 at p. 7, Return to Order to Show Cause.)

In May 2009, Shaputis hired his own psychologist, Dr. Barbara Stark, to produce a report for his next parole hearing. (Slip opn. at p. 13.) She accepted Shaputis's claim that his wife had been accidentally shot and killed when she dropped the pistol in his lap. And she concluded that Shaputis had "no history of unstable, tumultuous relationships," despite his long history of domestic violence and abuse. In Dr. Stark's view, Shaputis has adequate insight into the murder and his past violence, and posed a very low risk of violence. (*Ibid.*)

Shaputis's next parole hearing was held in August 2009, and it is this hearing that gives rise to the underlying petition. At the hearing, the Board once again found that Shaputis should not be paroled. (Slip opn. at pp. 12, 15-16.) The Board determined that Shaputis continued to minimize his responsibility and lacked insight into the murder of his wife and the years of domestic violence that preceded it. (*Id.* at p. 15.) The Board considered Dr. Stark's favorable assessment, but gave it little weight. (*Id.* at pp. 15-16.)

Shaputis challenged the Board's 2009 decision in the San Diego County Superior Court, but the court denied it. (Slip opn. at p. 15.) For the third time, Shaputis filed a habeas petition in the court of appeal, and, for a third time, in yet another split decision, the court granted it. (*Id.* at p. 16.) The majority concluded that Dr. Stark's report should have been given weight because it was "the only current evidence of Shaputis's insight," and any evidence that previously could have supported a finding of unsuitability

"has evaporated" in light of the report. (Slip opn. at pp. 27, 29.) It considered the Board's reliance on Shaputis's lack of insight to be a pretense. (*Id.* at pp. 24-25.)

The dissenting justice criticized the majority for "simply disagree[ing] with the weight the Board gave to Dr. Stark's report and its assessment of the evidence concerning Shaputis's suitability for parole." (Slip opn. dissent at pp. 2-3.) The dissent believed that the Board acted reasonably in giving Dr. Stark's report little weight and for concluding that Shaputis continued to lack insight into his crimes. (*Ibid.*)

But this disagreement about the weight of evidence was resolved by this Court the last time Shaputis was here. As this Court held, it is irrelevant that a reviewing court might reasonably conclude that the evidence could support a finding of parole suitability because the manner in which the evidence is balanced and weighed lies within the discretion of the Board and the Governor. (*In re Shaputis, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 1260, quoting *In re Rosenkrantz* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 616, 677.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE BOARD'S RELIANCE ON CREDIBLE EVIDENCE OF SHAPUTIS'S LACK OF INSIGHT WAS SUFFICIENT TO CONCLUDE THAT HE REMAINS DANGEROUS.

In 2008, this Court rejected the Court of Appeal's independent assessment that Shaputis was no longer dangerous in light of his age, poor health, and years of sobriety, and applied *In re Lawrence* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1181, to conclude that his parole was properly denied because he lacked insight into his crimes. (*In re Shaputis, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at pp. 1245, 1255, 1260.) The Court held that, rather than doing an independent assessment of the evidence, a reviewing court must limit its evaluation to whether the parole authority's decision is supported by evidence. (*Ibid.*) The reviewing court must uphold the parole authority's decision where its

conclusion that the prisoner is unsuitable for parole rests on evidence rationally indicative of the prisoner's current dangerousness. (See *ibid*.) Simply because a reviewing court could draw a different, reasonable conclusion from the record does not render the parole decision arbitrary or capricious. (*Ibid*.)

As was the case a little over two years ago when Shaputis was last before this Court, the question is whether evidence supports the parole authority's finding that he remains dangerous because he lacks insight into his violent and abusive behavior. (Slip opn. at pp. 25-29; see *In re Shaputis*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at pp. 1252-1253, 1258-1260.) Then, the Court upheld the denial of parole because Shaputis minimized responsibility for, and lacked insight into, the murder of his wife and his years of domestic abuse. (*Shaputis*, at pp. 1260-1261.)

The only differences this time are that Shaputis refused to participate in the Board's most-recent psychological evaluation and instead retained his own private evaluator, Dr. Stark. Although the Board considered Dr. Stark's report, it gave her report little weight because she concluded—over significant evidence in the record to the contrary—that Shaputis had no history of unstable or tumultuous relationships and she similarly accepted Shaputis's complaints about deficiencies in the legal proceedings and police investigation. (Slip opn. dissent at p. 2.)

The majority below believed that the Board should be bound by Dr. Stark's report and Shaputis's written statement submitted in support of it because they were "the only current evidence of Shaputis's insight" (slip opn. at pp. 27, 29), and that any evidence that could support a finding of unsuitability "has evaporated" in light of Dr. Stark's report. (*Id.* at p. 29.) In reaching this conclusion, the court relied on its own weighing of the evidence—the approach expressly rejected by this Court in 2008.

If the appellate court had faithfully applied *Lawrence*, it would have concluded that the Board was acting well within its discretion in denying parole. Shaputis's 2005 psychological evaluation continues to be the only neutral evidence of his level of insight. By refusing to participate in the most recent evaluation by a Board psychologist, Shaputis blocked the Board from receiving a more recent, neutral assessment of his insight. And the Board's decision to give little weight to the report of his privately retained psychologist is reasonable. In fact, Dr. Stark's report reveals that Shaputis still claims that his wife's death was an unlikely accident, thus confirming that the factual basis for the lack-of-insight finding by the Board and the 2005 evaluator remain valid. (Slip opn. dissent at p. 2.)

II. REQUIRING DENIALS OF PAROLE TO BE BASED ON EVIDENCE OF DANGEROUSNESS PROPERLY BALANCES THE NEED FOR APPROPRIATE COURT REVIEW AND THE DEFERENCE THAT SHOULD BE AFFORDED TO THE PAROLE AUTHORITY'S ASSESSMENT.

Less than three years ago, this Court's *Lawrence* opinion established a review standard for parole decisions that was premised on a careful analysis of California's parole law and an examination of the problems that arose from previous articulations of the standard. (*In re Lawrence, supra,* 44 Cal.4th 1181.) Before *Lawrence*, courts could uphold parole denials if any evidence supported any regulatory basis for parole unsuitability. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2402.) *Lawrence* changed this by holding that when a court reviews a parole decision, "the relevant inquiry is whether some evidence supports the decision of the Board or the Governor that the inmate constitutes a current threat to public safety." (*Lawrence*, at p. 1212.) And when parole is denied, there must be a "rational nexus" between the criteria on which the Board or the Governor relied and the determination that the inmate remains dangerous. (*Id.* at pp. 1191, 1212-1214, 1221.) The companion case of *Shaputis* provided an example of the rational-nexus

requirement: an inmate's lack of insight into past violence or the failure to accept responsibility for such acts can establish a rational nexus between the inmate's prior violent conduct and the inmate's current risk. (See *Lawrence*, at p. 1228; *In re Shaputis*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at pp. 1260-1261.)

Lawrence is premised on two key components of California's parole law. First, the parole law makes clear that public safety is the overriding consideration for both executive decisionmakers and reviewing courts when assessing an inmate's suitability for parole. (In re Lawrence, supra, 44 Cal.4th at pp. 1209-1212; Pen. Code, § 3041.) Second, California's parole law contemplates that parole release dates shall normally be granted to convicted murderers once they have served their base terms, unless considerations of public safety require a lengthier period of incarceration. Thus the Board and the Governor's authority to "make an exception" to the requirement of setting a parole date "should not operate so as to swallow the rule that parole is 'normally' to be granted." (Lawrence, at p. 1211, citing Pen. Code, § 3041.)

Lawrence gives effect to both of these considerations by striking the appropriate balance between the need for appropriate and meaningful judicial review of parole denials and the Board and Governor's discretion in making parole determinations. (In re Lawrence, supra, 44 Cal.4th at pp. 1204, 1211–1212.) A life prisoner has an expectation in parole that is protected by the principles of due process as a liberty interest. (See id. at p. 1191, 1204-1205, citing In re Rosenkrantz, supra, 29 Cal.4th at pp. 655, 657, 665, 677.) Judicial review of parole decisions is an important check on the executive branch's parole power under California's indeterminate sentencing scheme. (See Cal. Const., art. V, § 8, subd. (b); Pen. Code, §§ 3041, 3041.1, 3041.2.) To ensure that parole decisions result from individualized consideration of the evidence and the governing criteria, courts must undertake a careful review of the executive branch's parole

decisions. (See *Lawrence*, at pp. 1204-1205.) Legal commentators have recognized that *Lawrence* requires the executive branch to make individualized decisions based on credible evidence:

Rather than being merely a speed bump on the way to a parole denial, post-*Lawrence* courts can assert themselves in the proper role as a safeguard against arbitrary decisions. In overruling parole denials, these courts have articulated the demands of due process: the Board or the governor can only deny parole if, after an individualized consideration, it finds evidence of statutory factors that rationally indicate current dangerousness. Rather than facing a rubberstamp denial, inmates who have rehabilitated themselves now have a realistic possibility of being granted parole.

(Hipolito, In Re Lawrence: Preserving the Possibility of Parole For California Prisoners (2009) 97 Cal. L. Rev. 1887.)

Lawrence also respects the executive branch's authority in assessing an inmate's parole suitability. Lawrence explained that while the standard of review "certainly is not toothless," it is also "unquestionably deferential." (In re Lawrence, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 1211.) Under this deferential standard, reviewing courts must credit the findings of the Board or the Governor if they are supported by evidence establishing a rational nexus between the facts and current dangerousness. (Id. at pp. 1226-1227.)

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, respondents request that the Court of Appeal's judgment granting the petition for writ of habeas corpus be reversed.