COPY

SUPREME COURT COPY WAYDON California Supreme Court

In re

RICHARD SHAPUTIS,

Petitioner-Appellee,

On Habeas Corpus.

No. S188655

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, No. D056825

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITIST FILED

MAY 1 6 2011

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

Deputy

Law Offices of MARC ELLIOT GROSSMAN State Bar # 197627 818 Mountain Ave., Suite 111 Upland, California 91784 Telephone: (909) 608-7426 Facsimile: (909) 949-0119

Counsel for Petitioner RICHARD SHAPUTIS

I. QUESTIONS PRESENTED

(1) Did the Board of Parole Hearings ("Board" or "BPH") set forth "some evidence," including evidence that Shaputis currently lacks adequate "insight" into his prior criminality or fails to adequately "accept responsibility" for it, which established that Shaputis' parole currently poses "an unreasonable risk of danger" to public safety, the statutory standard below which the Board was mandated by law to set Shaputis' parole date (15 CCR § 2401, 2402(a); Penal C. § 3041)?

The Court of Appeal correctly determined that no such evidence was set forth by the Board, which likewise fails in its Opening Brief to cite any such evidence in the record.

(2) Does there exist any *evidence* demonstrating that a prospective parolee's alleged "lack of insight," based on the subject's failure to conform his or her honest but deteriorating recollection of decades-old criminality to a version previously urged by a prosecutor, in an appellate decision, or in a sentencing report based mainly on hearsay, or to admit thereto, renders the subject an unreasonable danger to society if released to supervised parole?

Shaputis respectfully asserts that parole cannot tenably be precluded based on a contrary notion because such a notion is a whim, unsupported by a study, report, or any other evidence suggested by the Board, the Attorney General, or the Court.

II. SUMMARY OF RELEVANT FACTS

<u>Judicial proceedings</u>. The decision under review is the *third* judgment by the Court of Appeal finding no evidence to support a decision denying Shaputis parole. In its first (published) judgment on December 28, 2005, the Court of Appeal (case No. D046356) set aside the Board's 2004 decision and

directed the Board to conduct a new hearing compliant with due process. On May 17, 2006, this Court ordered that judgment depublished (No. S141547).

On August 21, 2007, after the Board granted Shaputis parole at his subsequent hearing, and the Governor reversed that decision, the Court of Appeal (No. D049895), finding that the Governor failed to set forth any evidence that Shaputis' parole would create an unreasonable danger to society, set aside the Governor's action and ordered Shaputis' release on parole on the parole date set by the Board.

After granting review, this Court reversed the Court of Appeal's second judgment, and validated the Governor's decision finding Shaputis unsuitable for parole because in a 2004 psychological evaluation by Dr. Mura, quoted in a 2006 assessment by Dr. Silverstein (*In re Shaputis* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1241, 1250-1252) ("*Shaputis*"), one of the factors – considered and weighed by the psychologist in determining Shaputis posed a low parole risk in view of his age, health, and the entire record – was an alleged limited insight into his commitment offense and prior misconduct. (*Shaputis*, 44 Cal.4th at pp. 1259, 1252, 1260.)

Shaputis petitioned the Court for a rehearing, as set forth below. Counsel respectfully advises that this verbiage reflected no disrespect for the Court. Counsel acknowledges the Court's authority but respectfully suggests that its discretion, however broad, and the constraints of the some evidence standard of review, do not permit a court to substitute personal presumptions and speculation, for *evidence*.

A gaping abyss exists in the Opinion. To our knowledge there has never been a study or a reasoned court decision, and there is no hint of one in the Opinion, suggesting how, why, or *that* an alleged lack of insight into fading decades-old events bears any relationship whatsoever to an alleged current public safety risk.

The Court's gigantic leap from insight into ancient behavior to future parole risk is but a presumptive whim from thin air.

Because no causal relationship between insight into past behavior and a future societal risk has been established, the Board's codified regulations do not list lack of insight as an unsuitability factor. More importantly, had Richard Shaputis chosen to altogether to deny his guilt of the murder, the Court would be required to affirm the judgment as in Lawrence because the State's parole laws and regulations, specifically Penal Code § 5011(b) and 15 CCR § 2236, prohibit the denial of parole on that basis. The Court has condemned Shaputis to life without parole in violation of those laws.

The Court's irrational leap from insight into a decades-old event to future societal risk is also inapposite to the fact, noted by the Court, that the State's forensic experts, retained explicitly for this purpose, who evaluated Mr. Shaputis and fully explained his limited insight into the offense uniformly determined that the risk to public safety posed by his parole is nevertheless *low*, substantially below the "unreasonable risk" level below which a parole date "shall" be granted. (Penal Code § 3041(a); 15 CCR §§ 2401, 2402(a).

What expertise in this specialized field do Justices or governors possess? On what study have they relied to link insight to public safety risk? *None*. None *whatsoever*.

The abyss in *Shaputis* will create far more inequity, abuse, and misunderstanding by our state's courts and by governors and the parole board commissioners the Governors hand-pick to deny parole, than the "minimal elements" theory the Court created in *Rosenkrantz* which it has now, five years later, finally, disavowed.

Neither the Governor nor the Court has linked Shaputis' limited insight into the commitment offense to current public safety risk, defined by the Court as the State's sole statutory parole suitability determinant, nor has the Governor or the Court suggested any

evidence to dispute the forensic experts' determinations that Shaputis' parole poses a low public safety risk.

Petitioner respectfully suggests that the Court should address and correct this defect now, to prevent the kind of struggle described in the Opinion among the State's courts over the "minimum elements" theory suggested by the Court in *Rosenkrantz* and *Dannenberg*. The most unfortunate part is, of course, Richard Shaputis, in his mid-70's and in poor health, who as the Court recognizes has completed all applicable treatment available and harbors the maximum level of insight of which he is capable, and whose parole has been forensically determined to pose a low further risk to public safety. His parole is nonetheless precluded *forever* – by non-experts who have not cited and cannot cite a shred of evidence to link his alleged lack of insight into a fading event to the notion of dangerousness.

The speculative whim on which *Shaputis* is based has been defined by the Court as a due process violation. The concurring comment by the *Lawrence* dissenters is prescient: There is "no basis to distinguish this case (involving a *second* degree murder) from *Lawrence*, *supra* (involving a *first* degree murder) and to release Lawrence but deny parole to Shaputis." Particularly because the Court has relied for this distinction on the whim that limited insight into an ancient event constitutes a current unreasonable public safety risk.

(Petition for Rehearing, case No. S155872, filed on August 28, 2008; denied on October 22, 2008.)

Predictably, and as the Court has been repeatedly reminded, Governor Schwarzenegger and his parole board promptly transformed the *Shaputis* "insight" factor into the new talisman to be recited in nearly all decisions as a ground for denying and reversing parole. Although the Court depublished *In re Calderon* (2010) 109 Cal.Rptr.3d 229, which statistically established that fact, and has effectively done so by granting review in *In re Macias* (2010) 117

Cal.Rptr.3d 727, which likewise documented the policy, it remains well documented in published decisions.

Since *In re Lawrence, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at pages 1181, 1206, 82 Cal.Rptr.3d 169, 190 P.3d 535, and *In re Shaputis, supra*, 44 Cal.4th 1241, 82 Cal.Rptr.3d 213, 190 P.3d 573, were decided, the use of the lack-of-insight factor and the weight placed upon it has increased exponentially. Previous, to those decisions, the Board and Governor primarily relied on other factors.

(*In re Gomez* (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 1291, 1308; see also *In re Powell* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1530, 1539-1542.)

New psychological evaluations. Two additional psychological evaluations were conducted prior to Shaputis' subsequent parole hearing in 2009. The first was by Dr. Sahni, which she noted was incomplete because Shaputis exercised his right not to be interviewed upon the advice of his attorney, who had scheduled a noted forensic psychologist, Dr. Stark, to evaluate Shaputis' parole risk with a focus on his insight into and acceptance of responsibility for his past criminality, using recognized tools which the Board's assigned psychologists had failed to utilize. (Exhibit C¹, pp. 1-2; see exhibit D.)

Dr. Sahni reviewed the previous assessments and, consistent with the *six* psychologists who had previously assessed Shaputis' parole to be low or negligible ["low"; "very low"; "low or close to average when compared to the average citizen" (exhibit C, P. 4)], determined that Shaputis' current recidivism potential if paroled was "low risk"; specifically:

¹ "Exhibit" refers to the enumerated exhibit lodged by the petitioner in the Court of Appeal, the record of which should be before this Court.

After weighing all of the data from the available records, the clinical interview, and the risk assessment factors, it is opined that Mr. Shaputis presents a relatively <u>low risk</u> for violence in the free community.

(Exhibit C, p. 7; emphasis in original.)

Of critical importance to the review at hand, Dr. Sahni, the State's forensic psychologist, explained that the accuracy of Mr. Shaputis' prior evaluations (relied on by the Governor in 2007 and by this Court in Shaputis) is suspect and that those assessments must be viewed with caution because they were purely subjective, and because formalized risk assessment measures were not employed as required by the Board. (Exhibit C, p. 4.)

Dr. Stark's forensic report, which focused as intended on Shaputis' insight and acceptance of responsibility, was based on an exhaustive 5½-hour interview with Shaputis (whose interviews with Dr. Mura and Dr. Silverstein lasted an hour or less; see petitioner's exhibits, case No. S155872; exhibit E, p. 1). (Exhibit D, pp. 6-8, 9. 12-15.) Dr. Stark reviewed Shaputis' six prior evaluations, then administered the Millon Clinical Multiaxial Inventory 3 test, the LSI-R, the HCR-20, the Psychological Inventory of Criminal Thinking test, and the DSM-IV-TR. (Exhibit D, pp. 4-5, 8-10, 12-13.) Dr. Stark found, *inter alia*:

In the . . . current dynamic domain of risk assessment, Mr. Shaputis . . . has developed an understanding regarding the factors that led to the offense. He continues and has throughout the years maintained that he was responsible for his wife's death. Prior to the crime he depicts his life in a realistic manner with no holds barred. He has participated in self-help groups and he has shown growth and remarkable insight and attitudinal and behavioral change.

(Exhibit D, pp. 12-13; emphasis added.)

As to the possibility of an alcoholism relapse, Dr. Stark noted:

[S]everal factors probably mitigate against this happening, including his ability to maintain sobriety for the past several [22] years, his intense involvements and commitment to substance abuse programming and personal support in the community. He seems to have rehabilitated himself.

(Exhibit D, p. 13.)

As to Shaputis' current insight into his former criminality and alcoholism, Dr. Stark concluded:

Mr. Shaputis has gone through a profound process of developing insight into the reasons for his behavior. Insight is a process, not an event... based upon current psychological testing, as well as on his presentation in the interview, Mr. Shaputis... is free of any mental or emotional problems. He does not have any psychopathology that would cause him to be a danger to society when he is released... At this point in his life he appears to be an open, honest, truthful, and responsible person... his prognosis for successful adjusting in the community is excellent...

... Current psychological testing indicates he is not criminally oriented. Results indicated Mr. Shaputis does not pose a risk to society. Mr. Shaputis' impeccable conduct in prison and his exceptional record of rehabilitative progress clearly illustrates his suitability for parole. Mr. Shaputis . . . is not inclined to engage in criminal or destructive behavior . . . throughout the interview Mr. Shaputis expressed *deep and authentic remorse* for his wife's death . . . The presence of family and social support in the community is a very strong indicator that he will do well on parole.

... The fact that he has a strong release program is a good indication that he will do well on parole and he poses no threat to public safety . . .

(Exhibit D, pp. 13-14; emphasis added.)

Mr. Shaputis' level of insight into the role that his prior feelings, thoughts, and behaviors played in the index offense have been addressed and detailed ... I conclude that Mr. Shaputis has the "insight"; however, the issue was due to a misinterpretation of the word "insight." Mr. Shaputis had developed insight many years ago, and his insight remains more than adequate.

Mr. Shaputis' level of insight into the role alcoholism played in his previous misconduct has been brought into question. I have addressed the matter and conclude that this was a misunderstanding, rather than a deficiency on Mr. Shaputis' part. I have questioned him in-depth on the subject. It is clear that Mr. Shaputis does, in fact, understand and appreciate the role that his alcoholism played, not only in the commitment offense, but in his previous indiscretions. He has fully addressed and dealt with this problem in extensive programming over the past two decades. At this time Mr. Shaputis' insight into the role that alcoholism played in his life offense and previous criminal behavior is more than adequate.

(Exhibit D, p. 15; emphasis added.)

As to the repeated denials of Shaputis' parole, Dr. Stark concluded:

This long incarceration has no rehabilitative effects given he has already met all requirements for release and poses no threat to public safety. He is free from any mental or emotional problems that would interfere with routine parole planning. This is supported by psychological testing as well as by a Comprehensive Risk Assessment . . . He has a strong release program in place. Mr. Shaputis' prognosis for successful adjustment to the community is excellent . . .

(Exhibit D, p. 13.)

Due to the questions concerning Shaputis' "insight" into his former behavior and the role of alcoholism, Dr. Stark devoted considerable time and attention in assessing his current level of insight and to addressing the Board's, Governor's, and Courts' previously expressed lay concerns on the subject:

7

According to the <u>American Psychological Association</u>... *Insight* is defined as an awareness of the underlying sources of emotional, cognitive or behavioral difficulty with oneself. However *insight* alone does not change behavior. The inmate must feel prepared to do anything to change that such a tragedy will never occur...

The HCR-20 Companion Guide (Forensic Assessment Division [of the Board] uses this instrument for assessing risk of violence) reports: "Insight . . . is a judgment that is made by one person about another person . . . if a person speaks about his or her behaviors in ways that are in concordance with the other's perceptions and view, he or she has insight, if not he or she lacks insight. The question is not simply whether the client has insight (i.e., is about to make reasonable sense of his or her experience and behavior) but how the client makes sense of his or her behavior within the contexts of his or her experience. The task is to uncover and understand the internal logic of the client's behavior (i.e., the client's subjective 'insight'), and then there comes a time when active change has been successful when the client feels that the hard work of transformation had led to consolidation of a new pattern of feelings, thoughts, and behavior."

Mr. Shaputis has for several years successfully made this transformation from insight to an active sustained change in his feelings, thoughts and behavior . . . he has developed over the years a consistent reality based view of his extremely destructive choices due to unmet needs and being substance dependent. He related his past behavior was a need to make himself feel good and he behaved in a self-centered manner to obtain those feelings that resulted in a tragedy that took his wife's life . . .

Mr. Shaputis has remained consistent over the years in the circumstances of the index offense. Mr. Shaputis said he has been quoted many times incorrectly when the relationship with his wife was discussed. It is clear that there were inconsistencies in the investigation regarding the logistics regarding the firing of the gun

during the index offense. Mr. Shaputis' quest for self understanding has been a process that has taken many years.

Mr. Shaputis has long since achieved compelling insights [quoting him] ... Mr. Shaputis continues to state that he provided the environment for the tragedy [and] does express deep feelings of sorrow and remorse about the events that have caused great pain and suffering to his family, stating "I feel sorrow for what occurred and my wife's death will always be with me . . . First I needed to develop a better understanding of myself. I did this through self help classes and groups and intensive therapy . . . I am aware of what I did every day. There were so many warning signs I chose to ignore." ... Mr. Shaputis was able to identify and label the various factors that led up to the offense . . . "I never even thought at the time of the consequences of my drinking and my wife's drinking and our continuous arguments. I really had no understanding, as unbelievable as that may seem. Since that time I've done a lot of intensive groups regarding how my low self esteem [and] horrible substance abuse caused my detachment. I'm astonished at the time of the offense at my lack of any thoughts that this situation was out of hand."

The BPH has expressed many times their concern about his denial of alcoholism and responsibility for the index offense. According to Mr. Shaputis this revolved around his initial denial 21 years ago about his alcoholism. He related he has attended numerous substance abuse treatment groups and has for years admitted to his alcoholism and being in recovery since his incarceration. Regarding the index offense Mr Shaputis explained he "just told the facts of what I remembered happening. Of course I was responsible but others took my statements out of context. I know that the reason I was told I lacked insight was because I was only asked to give my version of the death of Erma. I was never asked how I developed into that person called insight or I was asked in the prior evaluation to go into how I changed. They asked me questions and I responded. I was never asked about my thinking then and the changes in the last several years."

(Exhibit D, pp. 6-8; emphasis added.)

On the PCL-R test for psychopathy, The Board noted that Dr. Stark rated Shaputis as a "very low" risk for recidivism. (Exhibit A, p. 31.)² She also scored Shaputis very low on risk from a historical management perspective, and very low for future violence.³ (Ibid.) Dr. Stark's analysis of Shaputis' needs for services on parole, using the LSI-R report, scored him in "the very low risk needs area." (Exhibit D, p. 13.)

The Board cited Dr. Stark's summary as:

The prognosis for successful adjustment in the community is excellent. The factors are listed below to support the conclusions. The tests that have been given, the classes you've taken, the disciplinary free since you've been with the Department of Corrections. You have not had any violence, strong family support, strong work ethic while you've been incarcerated. And then the doctor indicates that you have, the prognosis for successful adjustment in the community is excellent.

(Exhibit A, p. 31.)

In reality, Dr. Stark's conclusion was much more compelling:

Mr. Shaputis continues to exhibit an exceptional pattern of programming and institutional adjustment. Mr. Shaputis has gone through a profound process of developing insight into the reasons for his behavior. Insight is a process, not an event. Mr. Shaputis has met all the BPH recommendations again . . . Based upon current psychological testing, as well as his presentation in the

² Dr. Stark gave a detailed report of her PCL-R analysis, which the Board did not read into the record. Dr. Stark scored Shaputis at the 3.2 percentile for Factor 1, and at the 5.2 percentile for Factor 2 (due to his history) – yielding an overall 4.2 percentile rating for PCL-R, which she characterized as "very low." (Exhibit C, p. 20.)

³ This is the Board's reference to Dr. Stark's HCR-20 analysis for future violence. Dr. Stark rated Shaputis' HCR-20 "historical domain" at "very low risk" and his clinical domain at "very low risk." (Exhibit C, p. 21.)

interview, Mr. Shaputis does not pose any more risk to society at this time than the average citizen.

(Exhibit D, pp. 6-7, 13.)

In sum, the past *eight* evaluations of Shaputis' parole risk by forensic psychologists, including both new assessments prepared for the 2009 hearing, projected "*very low*" and "*low*" risks of dangerousness. Only Dr. Stark's report was based on an extensive personal interview; the 5½-hour session was roughly three times the total amount of time spent with Shaputis by Drs. Mura and Silverstein, whose reports were based on an hour or less spent with him (see petitioner's exhibits, case No. S155872; exhibit E, p. 1), and were limited to a review of his central and medical files (*id.*, pp. 1, 8); Dr. Stark reviewed Shaputis' cumulative case summary, his Board reports and past psychological evaluations, the Board's previous decisions, Shaputis' trial documents, including the probation report for sentencing, and his counselor's reports. (Exhibit D, p. 2.) Only Dr. Stark's determination included the required risk assessment tests. Dr. Stark's report was the only assessment that addressed Shaputis' insight and acceptance of responsibility in depth.

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